1368 Research Park Dr
Beavercreek, Ohio

BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION
Regular Meeting - February 4, 2026, 6:00 p.m.

. CALL TO ORDER
.  ROLL CALL
. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. January 7, 2026

V. DECISION ITEMS
A. PC 24-2 MOD 2/26, Minor, Project X ASRA

V.  PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. PC 26-2, Land Use Plan Update

vil.  ADJOURNMENT



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING, January 7, 2026

PRESENT: Mr. Fountain, Mr. Jones, Mr. Meyer, Ms. Palumbo, Mr. Self
ABSENT: None
Chairman Self called the meeting to order followed by roll call.

APPROVAL OF AGENDA
Mr. Meyer MOVED approval of the agenda. Motion was seconded by Mr. Jones
and PASSED by majority voice vote.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Mr. Meyer MOVED approval of the December 3, 2025 minutes. Motion was
seconded by Mr. Fountain and PASSED by majority voice vote.

PUBLIC HEARINGS

PUD 26-1, Raider Row Rezoning

Clerk Gillaugh read the public hearing on an application filed by Woodard
Development LLC, 505 S. Jefferson Street, Dayton, OH 45402. The applicant
requests approval to rezone 8.916 acres from A-1 Agricultural District to C-PUD
Commercial Planned Unit Development. The property is located at 3676 Colonel
Glenn Highway further described as Book 1, Page 10, Parcel 1 on the Greene
County Property Tax Atlas.

Jason Woodard, Woodard Development, stated he was requesting the rezoning
of Raider Row in conjunction with Wright State University. He said he was
assisting them in the development of under-utilized land along Colonel Glenn
Highway between Presidential Drive and University Boulevard. He explained the
university was seeking to add retail amenities to their campus to aid in the
attraction and retention of students, facility, and staff. Mr. Woodard said the
retail businesses would primarily be food and beverage options as well as some
retail services that they are not able to support through their on-campus food
service operations. He stated the development concept is similar to what peer
universities are doing across the region to boost their recruitment and retention
efforts.

Mr. Woodard explained the university would have ongoing control points
approving each initial user and then providing over site as the controlling body
of a reciprocal agreement easement that outlines things like maintenance
obligation and the uses the university deems beneficial to their goals. He stated
all the traffic would enter the site from Presidential Drive, which is a private
drive maintained by the university, so there is no direct access off Colonel Glenn
Highway. Mr. Woodard said the site sits in two jurisdictions, partially in
Beavercreek and partially in Fairborn. He stated they have had discussions with
staff from both jurisdictions to coordinate and have consistency with the zoning
process with allowable uses.



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

Mr. Burkett summarized the staff report dated December 30, 2025, which stated
said the applicant is requesting rezoning to permit future development of
commercial retail and restaurant uses. He discussed the stages of a PUD and
what phase they are reviewing tonight, the location of the property, the
surrounding properties’ zoning districts, the Land Use Plan designation, the
proposed permitted uses, and the access, circulation, and transportation
improvements. Mr. Burkett reviewed several conditions listed in the resolution,
and recommended approval of the case with six conditions.

There being no public input, the public hearing was closed.

Mr. Jones said with this being a multi-juridical lot, he questioned if Fairborn had
similar business restrictions as Beavercreek. Mr. Burkett explained they cannot
control what Fairborn’s City Council approves, but they have worked together
and it sounded like their conditions would be similar.

Mr. Fountain said this is a joint application with Mr. Woodard and Wright State
University, and questioned if staff had been in contact with Wright State. Mr.
Burkett explained they had a joint meeting at Wright State with representatives
from City of Fairborn, Woodard Development, and Wright State to all be on the
same page. Mr. Fountain asked what Fairborn and Wright State saw with the
mixed used development for this site. Mr. Burkett explained what was discussed
at that meeting was what was being presented tonight. Mr. Fountain referred to
the Land Use Plan change that should be done later this year, and questioned if
it could trigger another rezoning to this property if they want to incorporate
residential uses. Mr. Burkett stated they would have to request for a rezoning to
change it from a C-PUD to a MX-PUD, but at this time there have been no
discussions to have residential units on the site. Mr. Fountain questioned if
Presidential Drive was going to be able to handle the amount of traffic going to
the retail site and to the university. Mr. Burkett stated there was discussion on
traffic, but it was a little premature to go into specifics about the roadway. He
said they talked about where they thought an intersection would be located and
how Presidential Drive would align with it. He explained that was reviewed at the
specific site plan stage.

Mr. Self asked if the property was owned by Wright State. Mr. Burkett confirmed
that was correct. Mr. Self questioned what would happen if the building crossed
the jurisdictional line. Mr. Burkett stated it would be interesting, and said it
would probably be handled by a written contract between the two cities.

Mr. Fountain MOVED to approve PUD 26-1 with six conditions:

1. The concept plan dated “December 9, 2025” shall be adopted as the
approved concept plan for this C-PUD, except as modified herein.



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

2. The permitted and conditionally permitted uses within this PUD shall be
those uses that are conditional and permitted in B-4 zoning districts, with the
exception of those uses crossed out on Exhibit A.

3. All new buildings shall incorporate four-sided architecture and shall have no
apparent rear. All dumpster enclosures shall incorporate three-sided
architecture and an opaque front that is constructed of materials that match
the new buildings. The buildings and dumpster enclosure shall be designed as
required by the Planning Department, Planning Commission and City Council
at the Specific Site Plan.

4. All building setbacks shall be established and subject to the approval of the
Planning Department, Planning Commission, and City Council at the specific
site plan stage.

5. All stormwater and detention issues related to this development shall be
reviewed and approved by the City Engineer, Planning Commission and the
City Council at the specific site plan stage.

6. The access points and types of access shall be subject to the approval of the
City Engineer, Planning Commission, and City Council at the Specific Site
Plan.

a. No direct access from Colonel Glen Highway will be permitted.

Motion was seconded by Mr. Jones. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 5-0.

PUD 25-1 SSP #1, Creekwood Preserve

Clerk Gillaugh read the public hearing on an application filed by Maronda
Homes, 4710 Interstate Drive, Suite T, Cincinnati, OH 45246. The applicant
requests specific site plan approval to allow the development of 53 single-family
residential homes on 25.195 acres. The property is located at 4040 Graham
Drive further described as Book 1, Page 6, Parcel 9 on the Greene County
Property Tax Atlas.

Brian Hoesl, Land Acquisition Manager for Maronda Homes, gave a brief
overview of Maronda Homes and the closest communities they have to
Beavercreek. He discussed the location of the property, and said it would
connect to Graham and Vayview Drives. Mr. Hoesl stated the site was
surrounded by residential properties, and they are requesting a maximum
density of 2.25 units/acre with over 40% of the site being open space. He
showed the proposed site plan, and discussed the square footage range of the
homes. He reviewed the interior features of the homes, the past two year
average sale price of homes to the north and east, the projected sale prices for
the proposed homes. Mr. Hoesl stated they have been working with Greene
County Sanitary Engineering on the water and sewer connections, and they

3



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

would be removing the lift station on Vayview Drive because they have a
connection to the gravity fed sewer system. He said they have been working
with the cell tower company on the access point, and have refined the
stormwater management plan. Mr. Hoesl explained they had a traffic study
completed, and it was deemed no turn lanes or a street light was necessary and
it would not significantly increase the traffic in the area. He displayed several
home elevations of the ranch and two-story homes they build.

Mr. Carville summarized the staff report dated December 31, 2025, which stated
the applicant is requesting approval of a specific site plan to construct 53 single-
family residential homes. He stated they are in the second phase of the PUD
process, and discussed the location of the site, the site plan, the density
requirements, the phasing plan, the building design, the building materials, the
lot size requirements, the stormwater management, the removal of the lift
station, the traffic analysis/access, the landscaping requirements, and the City’s
role in development. Staff recommended approval of the case with 29
conditions.

In public input, Josh McClanahan, 2311 El Cid Drive, stated any study that says 53
homes isn’t going to affect any traffic was ridiculous. He said he works for Danis
Building Company, and anyone with any kind of rational logic knows that cars
affect traffic. Mr. McClanahan said some of his concerns was EMS services and
the overcrowding of the schools. He was worried about the cost of the homes,
and felt putting these homes in would significantly raise the property tax of the
homes in the area. Mr. McClanahan understood every city wanted to grow their
city, but questioned when they say this was enough. He believed they needed a
new high school before building 200 or 300 more homes. Mr. McClanahan said
he had attended several of these meetings, and asked if staff ever recommends
denial of a project. He requested they think about the citizens and everyone
here.

Dinesh Shah, 2179 Crystal Marie Drive, stated the houses are proposed to be
around $450,000 and questioned if there is a limit to where the City would say
no it does not fit in the City’s plan.

Clayton Nyp, 2379 Grange Hall Road, referred to the 50-foot buffer requirement
and stated they would like to see the lots match wherever it abuts to existing
residential properties. He said the main reason was so it shuts this project down.
Mr. Nyp believed they are putting postage stamp size homes in an area where
two neighborhoods are anywhere between 0.4 and 0.6 acres on average. He
stated their homes are modestly priced, and they have experienced a little bit of
a boom the past couple of years. Mr. Nyp said building $450,000 to $500,000
homes was going to force him out as well as a lot of other people because they
are not going to be able to pay their property taxes. He explained he got off the
military train here because Beavercreek was rural enough but city enough. Mr.
Nyp said that was going away, and he was going to have to leave.

4



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

David Dempsey, 2451 Rollingview Drive, said they are going to have so much
traffic on their street. He stated 700 cars a day going down the two lane road of
Graham Drive to Grange Hall Road. Mr. Dempsey did not feel that all the traffic
and construction traffic going up and down their street was going to help their
plat, but instead would make it worse. He was very concerned if the gravity fed
sewer system was going to work. Mr. Dempsey said they are putting 50 houses
in on a dead end street, and he did not believe anyone would go through
Gardenview Plat but would instead use Graham Drive.

Rosie Dempsey, 2451 Rollingview Drive, stated the kids from the neighborhood
play on Graham Drive. She enjoyed watching them out playing, and felt if the
neighborhood was built it was going to force the kids inside.

Jill Badders, 4083 Rushton Drive, hoped the City of Beavercreek was going to
do their own traffic study. She explained getting into and out of her
neighborhood has become terrifying because of people speeding and not willing
to merge with each other. Ms. Badders understood new development compared
to existing residential homes, but as a 17 year resident on Rushton Drive she
found it offensive that it keeps getting pointed out that there was going to be
no vinyl siding on the new homes. She stated her house has a little bit of vinyl
siding, and was proud of it because it looked nice. Ms. Badders explained she
was still climbing out of major debt from the tornado. She was concerned with
the data that was collected to do the price comparison of homes. Ms. Badders
wanted to know if these homes were built, why they would have to raise her
property tax significantly. She said her property taxes went up an additional
$600 last year on top of the increase she already got since the tornado
happened. Ms. Badders thought something needed to be done because it was
about to push all those existing residents to move. She stated it was too much,
and questioned when it would stop.

James Williams, 2511 Vayview Drive, said he was the resident that has the bare
spot in his back yard. He explaiend he had some concerns with planting some
trees in that area, and would like to get more specific plans on what would be
installed to cover the bare spot. Mr. Williams stated as a 40-year law
enforcement officer and a senior crash reconstructionist, he had serious
questions about how 700 vehicles was not going to affect the traffic flow in that
area. He said he would like to see the City do their own unbiased traffic
engineering study.

In written input, four emails were received from Shannon Hughes, 2469
Rollingview Drive, Pat Hoff, 4081 Rosehill Drive, James Williams, 2511 Vayview
Drive, and Laura Holiga, 3951 Graham Drive. The Commissioners were given
copies of each.

There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.
5



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

Mr. Meyer asked was simulated wood was. Mr. Carville explained it is a newer
material they see that is similar to fiber cement. Mr. Meyer questioned where
they anticipate the construction traffic coming in and out of the site. Mr. Carville
believed they would use Graham Drive. Mr. Meyer asked if they needed a
condition regarding the lift station but assumed not because the County would
handle all of it. Mr. Carville said that was correct. Mr. Meyer questioned if they
were anticipating disruptions. Mr. Carville said it is impossible to predict, but
Greene County was confident that it would be a smooth transition. Mr. Meyer
referred to the 50-foot buffer, and questioned what could be done in that area.
Mr. Carville explained staff asked that they maintain it as much as they can, and
they are not able to grade in that area.

Mr. Meyer asked if the Commission was allowed to consider schools. Counsel
Lounsbury advised it is very unwise to consider traffic or schools in a zoning
decision. He said he also heard several citizens talk about increase property
value, and he had never seen a case where someone complained that the value
of their home increased before. Counsel Lounsbury had seen where courts have
considered whether zoning decisions decrease the value of someone’s home,
but that cannot be the only factor. He believed the court would find it very
difficult to uphold a zoning decision that’s based upon the neighbors making
more money from their property than before the zoning decision was made and
seemed counterintuitive to the case law he had read.

Mr. Meyer questioned what the reason was to give an estimated price range on
the cost of the homes. Mr. Carville explained there was no intention of being
offensive at all, and was showing what was being proposed and surrounding to
it. Mr. Meyer referred to Condition #29, and asked if they could have more
details on what would be required to be planted. Mr. Carville said that condition
was drawing attention to that specific lot, and then the Planning Director would
be reviewing and approving the final landscape plan which is a separate
condition.

Mr. Meyer asked if there were any plans to try to mitigate the construction
traffic. Mr. Hoesl said the City sets the hours they are allowed to build in. Mr.
Meyer questioned if they anticipate most of that traffic going in through Graham
Drive. Mr. Hoesl stated it was the quickest way into the site, so he thought that
would be what they would use. He said there would be a second way through on
Vayview Drive, but if that was the way the City prefers the traffic to come
through then they could do that as well. Mr. Meyer requested they try to
minimize construction traffic during peak traffic times. Mr. Meyer questioned
why the ponds would not be constructed at the same time. Mr. Hoesl explained
there was a possibility they might be done at the same time, but it depends
when the development starts and if they have to grade the site all at one time.
Mr. Meyer believed it would be better to construct them all at the same time. Mr.
Hoesl stated that was also their preference, but it comes down to timing.

6



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

Mr. Meyer questioned if the City Engineer had any concerns if they built the
ponds in two phases. Mr. Smith said they would look at it more when the
construction drawings came in to make sure they are able to meet the
requirements. Mr. Meyer requested Mr. Smith give an overview of the traffic
study, and said there was an accusation of a bias in it and asked for him to
explain the process. Mr. Smith explained the traffic study was done by Choice
One Engineering, and he reviewed the total trips the new homes would generate
per day by using the Traffic Generation Manual. He said the level of service of
the roadways is dictated by the delay at intersections. Mr. Smith reviewed the
intersections that were reviewed, and it was determined the level of service did
not change with the proposed development. He stated the study also addressed
the signal warrants, and the City did their own traffic study about five years ago.
Mr. Smith stated a light was not warranted at Gardenview Drive then, and the
new study does not warrant it now. Mr. Meyer questioned if the traffic study
looked at how much traffic was going to be on Graham Drive versus Vayview
Drive. Adam Gill, Choice One Engineering, stated 90% of the traffic would utilize
Graham Drive and 10% of the traffic would utilize Vayview Drive.

Mr. Jones asked if a gravity fed sewer system was common in residential areas
throughout the City. Mr. Carville said they widely outnumber lift stations within
Greene County as a whole. Mr. Jones questioned if the 7am to 7pm exterior
construction hours were standard. Mr. Carville said yes. Mr. Jones asked if they
could adjust those if need be. Mr. Carville stated they could. Mr. Jones asked if
they did not need direct access to Kemp Road. Mr. Carville said with the size
development compared to the VPA in the Land Use Plan it does not call for it.
Mr. Jones questioned if there were any concerns with emergency services
getting back into the development. Mr. Carville said no, and this development
would actually provide the subdivision to the north a second access point.

Mr. Fountain referred to the directional distribution in the traffic study, and
guestioned why they believe 90% of the traffic from the site would use Graham
Drive. Mr. Gill explained it was based on what percentage of the cars were
coming from the north or south on Grange Hall Road. Mr. Fountain explained he
was concerned because there were only two proposed access points to the site,
but the 693 trips per day all dealt with Grange Hall Road. Mr. Gill said of the 693
trips per day into the site, they expect 60% to come from the north on Grange
Hall Road and 40% to come from the south on Grange Hall Road. Mr. Fountain
asked what the reason was for the 90/10 split. Mr. Gill said mainly driver
expectation by taking the easiest route out or into the neighborhood. Mr.
Fountain questioned what the projection was of traffic and construction traffic
during phase one of the project. Mr. Gill explained the standard traffic study
procedure looks at the 2026 opening year build and it assumes all 53 lots would
be built during that year. Mr. Fountain asked what the realistic view of how
many homes would be built in this calendar year. Mr. Hoesl said no homes would



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

be built on that site this year. He thought they would start building homes in
2027 with a two year build out hitting the 53 homes in 2029.

Mr. Fountain questioned if the lift station would have any bearing on the
development of the first retention pond. Mr. Hoesl said it would not, but
explained the first thing that would be done was the sewer would be ran from
Vayview Drive to the gravity connection point. He said once that was done, then
the lift station would be removed. Mr. Fountain questioned if Vayview Drive
would be an open street once the lift station was removed. Mr. Hoesl explained
it was up to the City on when it gets opened, but it would be a connection point
that would be physically made. Mr. Fountain stated the construction traffic
would have to come through Graham Drive until the lift station was removed,
but thought once it opened it would be another way for construction traffic to
get to the site. Mr. Hoesl said the construction equipment that digs the sewer
would have to enter from Graham Drive, but after the sewer goes in and the lift
station is removed, there would be two access points. Mr. Fountain questioned
when they would anticipate the lift station would be gone assuming they
received all necessary approvals. Mr. Hoesl believed it would be a matter of
months from the time they received all their approvals. Mr. Fountain questioned
if any staff member had had discussions with Greene County on when it could
be removed. Mr. Carville said they do not have an estimated date yet because
there are numerous approvals that would have to be done before.

Mr. Fountain stated in one of the letters they received from a citizen it talked
about Chapter 158.066, which discusses what the procedures are for a site plan.
He specifically mentioned 3, 4, and 6, which talked about the impact to the
present residents of that area, the detrimental impact if possible to the residents
in that community, and what could be imposed by the development on the
existing residents. Mr. Fountain explained he was very focused on Graham Drive,
but the impact on Graham Drive would not be felt until the lift station was
removed and a second access would become available on Vayview Drive. He
said this would unfortunately put some more impact on Vayview Drive, but
would give two points of access to the site before they get heavy into
construction of the homes. Mr. Fountain stated he was looking at the impact on
Graham and Vayview Drives, and he did not want everything loaded onto the
residents of Graham Drive. He believed the lift station was the lynch pin in
minimizing the impact of residents in the area especially on Graham Drive. He
wanted to propose a condition when it was time regarding the lift station timing
and the construction traffic on Graham and Vayview Drives.

Ms. Palumbo questioned if there was a maximum square footage for the houses
being proposed. Mr. Hoesl explained the largest with a sunroom would be 3,200
square feet. Ms. Palumbo said a citizen stated children play on Graham Drive and
asked if a park or play area could be installed in one of the open green space
areas on the proposed site plan. Mr. Hoesl explained the area they are not using
either had the stream or cell tower on it, and was not flat enough for any sort of

8



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

playground. He said their residents want amenities like that and they try to
include them where possible, but it was not feasible on this site. Ms. Palumbo
questioned if they knew how many trees they would be planting in what was
referenced as the bare spot by the citizen. Mr. Hoesl said they want a robust
buffer, and most of the time the City dictates what kind and how many trees
need to be planted in bare spots. Mr. Burkett explained he was the one who
reviews and approves the landscaping plan, and what he typically looks for
when they are trying to fill in a bald spot was for them to plant six foot
evergreen trees about 15 feet apart on center.

Mr. Self asked if the perimeter buffers would be maintained by the HOA. Mr.
Carville said it is common area and would be maintained by the HOA. Mr. Self
guestioned if there were sub streets to the south and west. Mr. Carville said yes.
Mr. Self explained the plat he lived in had a stub street from 1954 to 2021, and
they were very happy to get a second outlet because if there was an emergency
it was a lot easier to get in and out. Mr. Self asked if Park Fees would be paid in
lieu of park land. Mr. Carville said they would pay Park and Impact Fees. Mr. Self
guestioned if the creek that runs through the property is seasonal or full time.
Kristi Marchal, Choice One Engineering, stated they had an environmental study
done and it was determined that was a regulated stream that flows towards
Riverside.

Mr. Self questioned if they would be putting in a bridge or a culvert on Graham
Drive. Ms. Marchal said it was not fully designed yet, but thought it would be
some type of a culvert. Mr. Self asked if the ponds were retention or detention.
Ms. Marchal said they would be retention. Mr. Self stated when they grade the
site, he questioned how they would protect any trees of existing size. Ms.
Marchal explained how they grade the site to minimize the impact on the 50
foot buffer, they do not plan to remove trees in that area. Mr. Self asked if there
were any other significant trees on the property along the west boundary. Ms.
Marchal stated she was not sure exactly where the wooded area extends to, but
if there were some on the outer boundaries they would try to minimize the
impact of those as well.

Mr. Self referred to the existing cell tower and questioned if the leasing company
would be responsible for maintaining the stub street that goes to it. Mr. Hoesl
stated they are working through that with the cell tower company, but most
likely there would be an easement over the asphalt driveway that would be
maintained by the HOA. Mr. Self wondered how tall the tower was, and if it
would clear the nearest house if it fell. Mr. Hoesl stated he was not sure.

Mr. Self stated one thing that got brought up a couple times was construction
hours, and he thought they may also want to look at construction traffic. He
believed that was going to be more pervasive since it would have to go through
existing streets. Mr. Burkett said if the Commission modifies the construction
hours too much, the shorter the time frame the longer the construction extends

9



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

on the site. Mr. Fountain stated he wished they had the language they added to
the development near the Northrop Grumman facility on Colonel Glenn Highway
in regard to the large construction traffic. Mr. Jones believed they worded it that
the developer would have to reach out to the City, but thought here certain
hours was more appropriate.

Mr. Meyer questioned how many houses were in the plat off Gardenview Drive.
Mr. Hoesl stated approximately 130 homes. Mr. Meyer asked how many there
were off Graham Drive. Mr. Carville said around 20 homes. Mr. Meyer stated
Graham Drive would still be well under what Gardenview Drive was today and
asked if it was operating sufficiently. Mr. Carville said according to our
engineers, it was. Mr. Meyer referred to an email that was submitted as part of
the written input, and asked for Mr. Carville to explain who receives the public
hearing notices. Mr. Carville explained the Code requires any property that is
within 500 feet of the boundary of the site would be notified, and it is also
posted on the City’s website. Mr. Meyer asked what “T turnaround” meant on the
plan. Mr. Carville said it was the sub street.

Mr. Fountain MOVED to amend Condition #2, to add a second sentence that
would prohibit heavy or tandem vehicle traffic entering or exiting the site from
7am to 9am and 3pm to 5pm. Motion was seconded by Mr. Jones. Motion
PASSED by majority voice vote.

Mr. Fountain proposed Condition #30, stating the lift station at the end of
Vayview Drive must be fully removed so as to allow Vayview Drive as a
secondary entrance. This shall be done prior to the commencement of any home
construction. Motion was seconded by Ms. Palumbo. Motion PASSED by
majority voice vote.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to approve PUD 25-1 SSP #1 with 30 conditions as amended:

1. The approved site shall be the plans dated “Received December 29, 2025” except as
modified herein.

2. Hours of construction for any grading and exterior work associated with this
development shall be limited to Monday through Saturday from 7 am. to 7 p.m.
Heavy or tandem vehicles entering or exiting the site shall be prohibited
between the hours of 7a.m. to 9 am.and 3 p.m. to 5 p.m.

3. Prior to the commencement of any grading activities, the applicant shall post a
street sweeping bond in an amount approved by the City. The applicant shall be
responsible for ensuring that all residential streets utilized to access the
development remain free of mud, dirt, and construction-related debris for the
duration of construction activities.

10



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

10.

1.

12.

Prior to issuance of any zoning permits for the project, other than the model home,
the applicant shall have a subdivision record plan recorded with the Greene County
Auditor.

Prior to the release of the subdivision record plan for recording, the applicant shall
sign a Subdivider’'s Contract on forms provided by the City and provide a bond or
letter of credit for the required public improvements.

Prior to the release of the record plan for each section, park and impact fees for that
section shall be paid in-lieu of dedication of parkland for said section as determined
at the subdivision stage.

Final landscape plans are subject to final review and approval by the Planning
Department prior to the release of a subdivision record plan for recording. All
landscaping (unless otherwise authorized by the City Engineer) shall be kept out of
the right-of-way.

There shall be one tree, a minimum 2.5” caliper at the time of planting, provided for
each individual buildable lot, which shall be planted between the sidewalk and the
front of the house. These trees shall be maintained by the respective property
owner, and replaced if dead or dying. Corner lots shall have one minimum 2.5”
caliper at the time of planting on each frontage.

A PUD Agreement, acceptable to the City, must be signed by the owner and a bond
or letter of credit must be submitted prior to issuance of a zoning permit for any
portion of the project for the purpose, but not for the sole purpose, of insuring the
installation of landscaping. Said bond or letter of credit must meet the requirements
of the city’s landscaping and screening regulations.

Perpetual maintenance of landscaping planted in all common areas shall be provided
and any dead or diseased materials shall be removed and replaced by the
homeowner’s associations with similar types, species and sizes, as originally planted,
within three months of their removal, weather permitting.

Prior to the release of the subdivision, the applicant shall submit a copy of the
covenants, restrictions, and homeowner’s association documents to the City of
Beavercreek for this subdivision, which shall, among other stipulations, provide
requirements for maintenance and landscaping of common areas, communal mail
facilities and the storm water ponds. The covenants, restrictions and homeowner’s
association documents, shall be reviewed and approved by the City Attorney and be
recorded with Greene County prior to the release of any zoning permit for the site.
Said maintenance and landscaping shall be provided by the homeowners association
in perpetuity.

The homes constructed within this development must consist of brick, stone or
cement board siding on all four sides of the building. The use of metal or vinyl
sidings, including aluminum siding shall not be permitted except on fascia and soffit
areas or as accent features.

11



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

The approved homes constructed within this development shall be generally
consistent with the example homes attached. If needed, any disagreement between
the Planning Department and the home builder as to what is considered “generally
consistent” shall be decided by the Planning Commission.

Architectural elevations that are comprised completely of cement board siding must
have a brick or stone base on the front elevation. Said base shall be at least 2 feet
tall from adjacent grade.

Should any of the homes have exposed partial subterranean walls (such as a walk-
out basement), the same materials used to construct the rest of the house must be
extended to within 18” of the adjacent grade on that wall or walls.

The same home layout, or color scheme on a house shall not be permitted on either
side of a house, or directly across the street from a house.

Any home builder other than Maronda Homes must provide the Planning
Department with samples of past construction, to ensure consistency with
architectural requirements, prior to issuance of a zoning permit. If needed, any
disagreement between the Planning Department and the home builder as to what is
considered architecturally consistent shall be decided by the Planning Commission.

Minimum Building Setbacks for this PUD are as follows:

a. 30-foot minimum front yard.

b. 35-foot minimum rear yard, except lots that abut existing R-1A lots, which shall
have a minimum of 50-foot rear yard setback, and lots that abut existing R-PUD
lots which shall have a minimum of 40-foot rear yard setback.

c. 5-foot minimum side yard. No principal structures shall be closer than 15 feet to
each other.

d. On lots that share a side yard with the side yard of an existing R-PUD or R-1A lot,
the side yard setback shall be 10 feet on each side.

The minimum square footage for residential units shall be as follows:

a. One-story principal structures shall be a minimum 1,250 square feet excluding
garages and porches.

b. Two-story principal structures shall be a minimum 1,750 square feet excluding
garages and porches.

20.Final entrance signs and the landscape plans for the entry features shall be

approved by the Planning Department staff prior to any zoning permits being issued
for the signs. The maximum height of entrance signs, including sign structure shall
be 8 feet. In no instance shall the sign or its structure create a line of sight hazard for
vehicles and/or pedestrians (including all forms of non-motorized transportation)
from any direction.

12



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

21. One photoelectric light fixture shall be required for every lot with a residential
structure.

22. All concerns of the Beavercreek Fire Department and Sanitary Engineer must be
addressed prior to the release of a subdivision record plan. All concerns of the City
Engineer including but not limited to road improvements, land dedication, grading,
storm water management, and erosion control must be addressed prior to the
release of a record plat.

23. Aeration and water circulation devices and/or fountains are required to be installed
into any retention pond and shall be maintained by the homeowner’s association in
perpetuity. The first two feet of embankment above the waterline and two feet
below the waterline shall be permanently covered in #2 stone so as to prevent
erosion and weeds growing at the waterline.

24.Any existing wells on site that will be closed off, shall be closed under appropriate
ODNR methods.

25.The final design and placement of any common mailbox(es) shall be reviewed and
approved by the Planning Department prior to their placement.

26. All residential style trash totes shall be stored within or immediately adjacent to a
primary structure, and shall be out of ordinary public view on days when trash
collection is not occurring (except the night before scheduled pick-up is to occur).

27.Street lights shall be installed at the intersection of Pennycreek Lane and Graham
Drive and the intersection of Vayview Drive and Graham Drive.

28.The use of chain-linked fencing shall be prohibited in this development.

29.Additional trees shall be planted within the 50-foot buffer area north of Lot 3, as
shown on the proposed landscape plan.

30.The lift station at the end of Vayview Drive must be fully removed so as to
allow Vayview Drive as a secondary entrance. This shall be done prior to the
commencement of any home construction.

Motion was seconded by Mr. Jones. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 5-0.

PUD 97-1 AMEND 1/26, Hampton Inn/Homewood Suites

Clerk Gillaugh read the public hearing on an application filed by HiFive
Development Services, 202 W. Main Street, Mason, OH 45040. The applicant
requests approval to amend PUD 97-1 to accept multiple court changes that
were made to the judicially approved PUD. The property is located on the north
of Kemp Road approximately 500 feet east of the intersection of Kemp Road
and North Fairfield Road further described as Book 4, Page 6, Parcel 123 on the
Greene County Property Tax Atlas.

13



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

Mr. Carville summarized the staff report dated December 31, 2025, which stated
this request was to incorporate multiple court approved changes to the
judicially approved PUD. He discussed the location of the property, and stated
the initial rezoning and the voter referendum that overturned the rezoning was
done in 1997. He explained there was a Federal Court Settlement that spanned
from 1998 to 2000 where the property owner filed a lawsuit to reinstate the
commercial PUD, the case was resolved through mediation, the City was
required to rezone the property to a commercial PUD, and City Council adopted
the Ordinance in July 2000. Mr. Carville stated in 2015, an assisted living facility
was proposed on the site and the rezoning was approved by City Council,
however, the development did not proceed and no federal court modification
was requested. He said in 2018, an office building modification was proposed,
and the case received all necessary approvals needed from the City. Mr. Carville
stated the federal court approved the modification to the 2000 Agreed Order in
November 2018, but it was never adopted by Beavercreek to guide the future
development within the PUD. He explained this case was specifically about
adopting the 2018 court order so the PUD accurately reflects it. Mr. Carville
explained there was a condition in the 2018 court order that required the City to
take all necessary actions to implement the agreement.

Mr. Carville discussed an addition to the proposed resolution that came through
the courts today and was prepared by the City’s legal counsel. He explained the
second case still would have went forward tonight, and are just adding this on to
the resolution so it would be one less case that would have to adopted in the
future. Staff recommended approval of the case with three conditions.

Counsel Lounsbury explained the City had a lot more control over the
development when the original plan was approved back in 1997. He stated when
it got overturned by referendum and thrown into court, the court now has
jurisdiction to approve the changes. He explained there was a mediation where
the parties came to an agreement on what to do with some of the area, but that
didn’t cover the entire development. He said over the years as things have
changed in the PUD instead of going through the normal process the City ends
up going to court. Counsel Lounsbury believed the newest amendment was
supposed to prevent the City from having to go back to court again. He
explained all they were reviewing tonight had been approved by the federal
judge, the same federal judge that has been overseeing the case since 1998.
Counsel Lounsbury stated the City’s hands are really tied, and the City had to
rely on what the court was making them do. He said this case was to make sure
the City matches what the court has ordered.

Mr. Self and Mr. Burkett discussed which properties were included in the PUD.

In public input, Monica MacFarland, 3122 Don Quixote Drive, stated she wanted
to discuss this from a citizen’s perspective. Ms. MacFarland explained Lofino had

14



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

asked in 1995 to have the property rezoned to a C-PUD, and staff recommended
disapproval because it did not comply with the Land Use Plan. She said in 1997,
Lofino wanted to rezone it to C-PUD and again staff said it didn’t comply with
the Land Use Plan. Ms. MacFarland read the main idea of the Land Use Plan and
the first sentence in the Zoning Code. She referred to the PUD requirements in
the Code, and read the standards and criteria that have to be met for a PUD
rezoning to be approved.

Laureene Bollinger, 2286 El Cid Drive, donated her three minutes to Monica
MacFarland.

Ms. MacFarland explained the C-PUD was passed, but there were restrictions
that were put on the height and size of the buildings. She said they took it to
referendum, and won, however Lofino sued the City and it ended up going to
mediation. Ms. MacFarland stated during the mediation they had
recommendations for the height of the building and the size of the buildings.
She said then in 2018 they get a new lawsuit, and in the decree Paragraph 2 was
completely considered null and void. Ms. MacFarland questioned what it meant
when the citizens take something to referendum, and everything they fought for
disappeared. She stated she felt a great sense of betrayal.

Josh McClanahan, 2311 ElI Cid Drive, questioned if the City had appealed the
federal decision and did not understand why it was a federal decision for a local
municipality. Counsel Lounsbury said this case has been pending since 1998 in
the lower district court and because there had been agreed entries with the
judge and all the parties, there has been no need to appeal to a further higher
court. He stated he was not sure how that would happen at this point. Mr.
McClanahan stated the appeal would be for the Beavercreek residents to decide
what they want to do with their own property instead of people just suing and
putting in whatever they want to put there. Counsel Lounsbury stated at this
point there is nothing to appeal because they would be appealing something
that all the parties have agreed to.

Mr. McClanahan asked who at the City of Beavercreek agreed to it. Counsel
Lounsbury said he did not remember the exact person who was involved in the
negotiations with the judge and the other parties, but it would also have to be
approved by City Council. Mr. McClanahan questioned why are they not fighting
this. Counsel Lounsbury said the City fought it as best as they could and that the
case was mediated back in 1998. He explained once a case is mediated an
agreement was made, which was why there was no appeal possible. Counsel
Lounsbury said that allows for modifications to be made to the agreement
thereafter because once it was in federal court it would always be tied to the
court order. Mr. McClanahan asked what made it a federal case. Counsel
Lounsbury explained it was the appeal to the federal court, and the type of
appeal was a federal appeal regarding land use. Mr. McClanahan questioned
Ohio’s own state legislator does not govern Beavercreek. Counsel Lounsbury

15



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

said in this particular case, the South District of Ohio had jurisdiction over this
case.

Mr. McClanahan said he would like to know what the City was doing to support
the residents and deny any kind of changes in this area because it went to
referendum in 1997 and they plan on doing it again. He believed it would pass
because everyone in this area he had talked to does not want a hotel in this
area. Mr. McClanahan stated when they get to that stage, he hoped they would
be supporting them in their decisions. Counsel Lounsbury was not sure this
could be overturned by referendum if it had already been approved by a district
court. He assumed there would be another court appeal to Judge Murz, who
would have jurisdiction over the same exact issue. Counsel Lounsbury did not
believe that was a possibility under these circumstances where there was an
agreed entry from the court regarding these issues. He said they are just rubber
stamping what the court has already told them to do.

John Jones, 2236 Crab Tree Drive, questioned if Counsel Lounsbury was stating
there cannot be an appeal on the modification because in the original court
order the judge, in his opinion, allowed Lofino to build his Cub Food. He said the
judge did stipulate that it had to be at the north end of the property giving a
buffer zone trailing down from regional commercial to neighborhood
community commercial which is what that end of the property should be. Mr.
Jones thought just because it got modified to say C-PUD, he believed it was
now City Council allowing them to go 40 feet high because the assistant living
facility wanted to go three stories and that got turned down because they
restricted them to two stories. He said the applicant could not make money with
it only being two stories. Mr. Jones stated now things having changed and they
are going to allow a regional commercial building to go up to almost 40 feet
high. Counsel Lounsbury explained Judge Merz agreed to raise the height. Mr.
Jones thought they needed to appeal that modification then because it was the
judge’s intent originally in 2000 to shield the residents by restricted Cub Foods
to be built at the north end of the facility. He alleged that was the reason Lofino
did not build the facility. Counsel Lounsbury explained the City is bound by the
decision of Judge Merz. Mr. Jones thought they should appeal the modification
and have another referendum.

In written input, two emails were received from Pam Lewis, 2312 El Cid Drive;
and Andy McFarland, 3122 Don Quixote Drive. The Commissioners received a
copy of both.

There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.

Mr. Fountain referred to the 2018 agreement talking about vacating Paragraph 2.
He said then Mr. Carville showed a slide tonight where they were supposed to
put 200,000 square feet back in. Counsel Lounsbury explained the slide
presented tonight was to increase the total square footage to 200,000 so that

16



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

the other vacant outlots can be developed otherwise they would remain vacant.
Mr. Fountain agreed it clearly said that in the 2000 agreement in Paragraph
2(a), but then it was struck from the 2018 agreement. Mr. Burkett said to him it
sounded like the new order reinstates Paragraph 2(a), which Counsel Lounsbury
believed that was the intent of the court to bring that square footage up to
200,000. Mr. Fountain referred to the Number 12 in the 2018 agreement and said
it was the same as the 2000 agreement talking about 6.752 acres of land
deeded to the City. He wanted to confirm that is not the five acres they are
going to be discussing for the hotel. Counsel Lounsbury explained it was the
greenspace buffer that cannot be developed on. Mr. Fountain referenced the
analysis in the staff report and said it stated the purpose of this request was to
satisfy Condition #14 of the 2018 court order, and questioned why they were just
looking at that condition. Mr. Carville explained Condition #14 was the marching
orders to bring this into the PUD.

Mr. Meyer said they were not approving a PUD today, but they were amending
the existing PUD. Mr. Carville stated the PUD already exists, and they are just
updating the language within it. Mr. Self questioned it was the language that was
put forth by the court though. Mr. Carville stated that was correct. Mr. Self said
that means they don’t have a lot of a choice, but they could turn it down.
Counsel Lounsbury stated he had thought about what the consequences would
be of turning it down. He did not believe it would have any affect because the
court’s jurisdiction supersedes the Commission, but it would put the City in non-
compliance with the requirements of the court. Counsel Lounsbury was not sure
if that would be holding the City in contempt or if there would be a motion that
would force them to redo it. He explained their hands are tied once the court
has ordered this, and thought if it was turned down there could be negative
conseqguences though.

Mr. Meyer questioned how the City could stop development. Counsel Lounsbury
explained the only way to stop development was to purchase the land.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to add Condition #3 as presented. Motion was seconded by
Mr. Jones. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to approve PUD 97-1 AMEND 1/26 with three conditions as
amended:

1. All other conditions of PUD 97-1 and subsequent applicable modifications and
amendments shall remain in full force and effect, except as modified herein.

2. All conditions set forth in Case No. 3:98-cv-250 under the 2018 Order shall be
incorporated into PUD 97-1.

3. Paragraph Two (2)(a@) of the original Agreed Order Modifying Terms, filed
November 8, 2018, is hereby amended to increase the total square footage of all

17



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

buildings and structures allowed in the development from 185,000 square feet to
200,000 square feet. The increase required to allow the increase in the total square
footage out-lot structured. This amendment shall control over and provisions to the
contrary in the Agreed Order Modifying Terms filed November 8, 2018, (Doc #55).

(A) Paragraph 2(a) as modified shall read as follows:

2(a). The total square footage of the buildings and structures allowed to
be constructed in the development shall not exceed 200,000 square feet.

(B) Paragraph 2(f) as modified shall read as follows:

2(F). The total square footage of all out-lot structures shall not exceed
45,000 square feet. No structure on any individual out-lot shall exceed
14,500 square feet.

Motion was seconded by Mr. Jones. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 5-0.

PUD 97-1 MOD 1/26, Major, Hampton Inn/Homewood Suites

Clerk Gillaugh read the public hearing on an application filed by HiFive
Development Services, 202 W. Main Street, Mason, OH 45040. The applicant
requests a major modification to the specific site plan to allow for the
construction of a 160-room 3-story hotel on 5.068 acres. The property is located
on the north of Kemp Road approximately 500 feet east of the intersection of
Kemp Road and North Fairfield Road further described as Book 4, Page 6, Parcel
123 on the Greene County Property Tax Atlas.

Michael George, Kleingers Group Design Team, stated they are requesting
approval for a 160-room dual brand Hampton Inn/Homewood Suites hotel. He
discussed the location of the site and the two access points along the private
drive. Mr. George stated staff had been very helpful in the process as they have
been working through it over the past year. He explained they have had
guestions along the way with the PUD and court order regulations, and with the
City’s help they have put together a compliant plan.

Jason Williams, Phoenix Architecture, stated if they have any questions in regard
to the building they can ask him. He thanked staff for helping them decipher the
rulings with the PUD. Mr. Williams explained they are proudly presenting a
building tonight that does comply to all the court rulings. He explained they had
to make some sacrifices with Hilton in order to make this fit because it was a
tight sight and the court rulings does have parameters that makes this a tough
site to build on. Mr. Williams believed they have produced an aesthetically
pleasing building that was going to do well for the community.

Mr. Carville summarized the staff report dated December 31, 2025, which stated
the applicant was requesting to allow a 3-story, 160 room hotel to be
constructed. He discussed the impervious surface calculations, the permitted

18



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

uses for the site, what facilities currently exist around the property under
discussion, the proposed site plan showing the two access points, the building
design, the setback requirements, a visual depiction of the proposed hotel from
the neighbors to the east, the parking requirements, the dumpster enclosure
location, the landscaping plan, the lighting requirements, and the signage
requirements. Staff recommended approval of the case with 22 conditions.

In public input, Sheila Hollenbaugh, 2260 EI Cid Drive, said they have lived in the
same house since 1976. She said as much as she would like to have back the two
lane roads, the cornfields and the neighborhoods where they felt comfortable
letting the kids roam free range, she knew that ship sailed a long time ago. Ms.
Hollenbaugh stated she had come to appreciate the community focused
businesses that have come in. She said all the businesses in that swath from
Kemp Road to 1-675 they could walk into and get a good or service they could
use. Ms. Hollenbaugh did not feel this application was any of that as it was not a
community focused business that adds anything new to the area. She explained
she could count seven hotels within shouting distance including a Marriott which
was clearly what this was trying to replicate. Ms. Hollenbaugh stated the
building would tower over everything in the strip north of Kemp Road and east
of North Fairfield Road going all the way up to [-675. She believed it was
incompatible with the Land Use Plan which specified community business. She
requested the case be denied.

Monica MacFarland, 3122 Don Quixote Drive, stated the development was
supposed to taper according to the Land Use Plan from 1-675 to Kemp Road.
She said even the property has a more dense commercial part of it and it was
supposed to taper to a community development. She said as the previous
speaker said the businesses around there are really community based. Ms.
MacFarland referred to the 2018 agreement, and explained it said the maximum
height of the buildings within this PUD shall be 40 feet. She did not believe they
had to be 40 feet, so they don’t have to have a three story building there. Ms.
MacFarland read Number 6 of the agreement that said building plan designs and
elevations shall be subject to final review and approval by the Beavercreek
Planning Commission and Beavercreek City Council at the specific site plan
stage. She believed they had a lot of options here to deny this request because
according to this lawsuit, which is a moot point, they still have some choices and
she hoped they made ones that would be beneficial to the citizens of
Beavercreek.

Josh McClanahan, 2311 El Cid Drive, asked for the image to be pulled up from the
mound. He said that was literally his house, and wanted the Commission to look
at it before they approved the hotel. Mr. McClanahan stated his son plays out in
the field as well as other kids from the neighborhood, and that was what they
are going to see looking out of their houses. He believed there was a lot of
consequences based on the decision the Commission makes, and there were a
lot of areas in Beavercreek where a hotel could be built. Mr. McClanahan did not

19



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

feel they needed to shove one right outside of their neighborhood as there was
no reason for it. He expressed concern with safety as Premier has a lot of
emergency vehicles that enter/exit the area and there would be hotel traffic in
the way. Mr. McClanahan said they need to look into FFA because they fly
helicopters through there, and questioned if they could have a 40 foot hotel that
close to a hospital that uses helicopters. He said it was one thing to have a
emergency center behind his house with the sirens that wake them up at night,
but people in the hotel would be able to see inside of his house. He explained
there were pine trees out in the field, but if someone is 40 feet high, they would
be able to see in his back door which is why he was passionate about this. Mr.
McClanahan stated he did not want to look out every morning and see that, and
that was not why he moved to Beavercreek. He asked the Commission to think if
that was outside their house if they would want to see it.

Roger Richey, 3144 Kemp Road, stated that view would be his view looking out
his driveway and backyard. He expressed concern with security because of
having a hotel right there with transients coming through all the time. He was
glad to hear they were planning on leaving the berm there, but they would still
be able to see straight to the houses and backyards. Mr. Richey questioned
where the access points were going to be located, and what that was going to
do to traffic on Kemp Road. He said he did hear they were going to put more
trees in. Mr. Richey questioned what this proposal would do to the value of his
home and the taxes.

Annette Beatty, 3101 Don Quixote Drive, stated they did not need a hotel on this
site and there was plenty on Colonel Glenn Highway that did not impact
residential areas. She said there are hotels near the Mall at Fairfield Commons,
and the parking lots are never full when she drives by so they do not need more
hotel. Ms. Beatty explained this is a residential area and by putting a hotel there
it was ruining that residential feel. She said they walk the neighborhood, and by
having a hotel there they are going to have transient people. She said the hotels
further down the strip, have indigents that live in and around there. Ms. Beatty
thought the little park area they have behind the mound would be a perfect
place for indigents to start living. She explained she has seen people come from
Red Roof Inn, and stand on the streets begging for money and they have made
it as far south as Aldi now. Ms. Beatty knew that was all speculations, but she
has seen it happen in many different areas.

Ms. Beatty did not believe a hotel was beneficial to any of the residents in the
area. She said it is a nice quiet area where they know everyone, and now they
are going to have strangers that would be walking on the sidewalks that lead
right to Wartinger Park. She explained there are problems already at night in the
park, and could see it happening more often. Ms. Beatty stated there was a
preschool just down on Kemp Road, and she worried about the security and
safety of it. She expressed concerns with the safety of the neighborhood
children who ride their bikes around and now they are going to have people

20



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

who aren’t from Beavercreek just passing through. Ms. Beatty stated she was
also worried about her safety and her property’s safety. She said in regard to the
40 foot height, it didn’t matter if there were trees there, it was still going to
tower over it.

Roger Smith, 2321 El Cid Drive, donated his time.

Ms. Beatty stated there was going to be traffic 24/7 because the hotel was open
24/7. She understood where the access points were going to be located on the
private street, but then they would be turning onto Kemp Road. Ms. Beatty
stated it was very busy, and during rush hour sometimes trying to get into El Cid
Drive the traffic is backed up to North Fairfield Road. She thought it was going
to be impossible to turn left into El Cid Drive or to turn right onto Crab Tree
Drive. Ms. Beatty explained she moved here because of the quietness, the
guaintness, the location of the little park there, the school and the churches. She
stated they have access to all the things like a previous person said that benefit
them as residents. Ms. Beatty explained she did not care about hotel patrons
because they are not from Beavercreek, and they are going to be invading. She
did not feel it was needed, and there were plenty of other hotels that people
could go to. Ms. Beatty stated it destroys the neighborhood feel, and the
atmosphere of Beavercreek which was why they all live in Beavercreek. She
guestioned if the Commissioners would like to look at that if they looked out
their window. Ms. Beatty said right now they see the sunset, the hill with trees,
but now they are going to see the hill, with trees, and the building with people
standing at the windows staring at them. She stated she did not want it.

John Jones, 2236 Crab Tree Drive, said what he said previously applies to this
case as well. He explained he was located on the southeast corner of Kemp
Road and Crabtree Drive, and he likes to go out in his front yard with a cold
beverage and watch the sunset. Mr. Jones stated if this hotel was there not only
would he to be looking at the east side of the building but he would also be
seeing the south side of the building. He said the last thing he wanted to look at
was a three story building. Mr. Jones commended the City Council so far
because they have been able to keep the regional commercial north of Lakeview
Drive and that was where it needs to stay. He stated just because the land may
all be taken north of Lakeview Drive, that does not mean they should allow
regional commercial to be south of Lakeview Drive. Mr. Jones said as the original
judge’s intent, he allowed the Cub Food building on the north end of that lot so
it would create the transition to the residential area. He believed just because
the building fits the land does not mean the building fits the neighborhood.

Jean Eyink, 2335 El Cid Drive, said she was one of three residents the City
allowed to participate in the mediation in 2000. She explained they have lived at
their residence for 37 years, so she had been involved since 1995. Ms. Eyink
stated for 28 years they have been told that the Land Use Plan required a
tapering of commercial activity from 1-675 to Kemp Road. She felt that a 3-story,

21



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

160 room hotel was regional not community commercial and does not follow the
Land Use Plan that calls for a tapering of business activity. She asked that the
Commission deny this application. Ms. Eyink stated in 1997, her husband
provided staff with data on noise pollution. She saw they did a study on light
pollution, and questioned if they had done one on noise pollution. She requested
they would questioned look at the data her husband provided if a study had not
been done, and stated it would not have changed in 25 years.

In written input, two emails were received from Pam Lewis, 2312 El Cid Drive;
and Andy McFarland, 3122 Don Quixote Drive. The Commissioners received a
copy of both.

There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.

Mr. Jones asked with the proposed plan if staff foresaw any lighting issues with
the neighborhood to the east. Mr. Carville did not believe so since the
photometric plan was reading 0.0 at the property lines. Mr. Jones questioned if
there was lighting along the top of the building. Mr. Carville explained that was
all calculated in the photometric plan so even if there was it was showing 0.0 on
the boarders. Mr. Jones asked if there were any EMS concerns with Careflight
since it lands in that vicinity and ambulances are going in and out close to the
site. Mr. Carville stated that was a very good point that he would have to look at
prior to issuing a zoning permit. He said that was something they have to review
with projects near Wright Patt.

Mr. Jones questioned if they could consider privacy concerns. Counsel
Lounsbury thought they could consider privacy concerns, but there is a giant
mound along the property separating them. He said it was up to the Commission
to weigh that issue though. Mr. Jones asked if they were able to consider the
number of hotels in the area as justification for disapproving the case. Mr.
Carville said they cannot. Mr. Jones stated one of the residents brought up the
tapering agreement, and questioned if that was in the 2018 agreement. Mr.
Carville believed they were referencing the Land Use Plan, and the Land Use
Plan was determined in zoning issues. He explained once the zoning was
established, it was done with that in mind. Mr. Carville said since it had the O-1
component so the tapering did not apply here. Counsel Lounsbury stated the
Land Use Plan would be considered in zoning, and was not sure if the court
considered it or not. He explained the court has told the City what the zoning
was.

Mr. Fountain asked if there was roof mounted equipment, and if so, how was it
screened. Mr. Carville said it was screened by the parapet wall which was the
architectural features on the building. Mr. Fountain said the site was going to be
increasing the solid state of the ground, and questioned if the drainage was
going to be adequate. Mr. Burkett explained on the City owned land, there was a
storm water pond that was created with the original development keeping in

22



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

mind it would be sized for full buildout. Mr. Fountain said one of the residents
brought up traffic on Kemp Road during rush hour, and questioned if staff
thought a traffic or signal study needed to be done for Kemp Road. Mr. Burkett
stated this property was located within the Impact Fee District, so prior to
release of the zoning permit, they would be required to pay those fees. Mr.
Burkett stated if something was warranted in the future or with this
development, that is the intent of the impact fees to construct those
improvements.

Ms. Palumbo stated with the resident’s concern of privacy or loitering in the
green spaces area, she questioned if it would be possible to put up fencing at
the back of the hotel. Mr. George said there is a line of evergreen trees proposed
to screen that. Ms. Palumbo questioned if there was flat space between the
mound and the parking area. Mr. George said there would be a lower mound
along Kemp Road with a row of evergreen trees too. Ms. Palumbo explained if it
was possible, she would like to see if a fence could be construction between the
hotel and the green space to prevent loitering. Mark Davis, Hi Five Development,
said this is a Hilton hotel, and they would not get transients in this hotel. He
explained they have developed a number of other hotels in Beavercreek, and
they have not found fences to be very helpful for those kinds of things. Mr. Davis
said the hotel ownership and staff that work there police the parking lots fairly
regularly. He stated the parking lots are required to be lit. He explained they are
the largest hotel developer in Ohio, and he did not believe they have ever had a
problem with any transients in their parking lots. Ms. Palumbo asked if they have
a policy where they would discourage loitering if it occurred in the parking lot.
Mr. Davis stated if they are not a guest and don’t have a key fob, they would
most likely be asked to leave.

Mr. Meyer referred to Condition #11, and asked if the business closes. Mr. Carville
stated that condition should be removed as it would not apply. Mr. Meyer asked
if the dumpster location could be moved to a location as far away from the
residential properties as possible. Mr. Carville said it could possibly be moved to
the southwest corner. Mr. Meyer asked what the square was on the top right
corner of the site. Mr. Carville stated it was the water meter pit. Mr. Meyer
guestioned if they had really any grounds to deny this application. Counsel
Lounsbury said they could not stop a hotel because it is a permitted use in the
PUD. Mr. Meyer said the maximum height says 40 feet, and asked if they were
allowed to limit it to 30 or 35 feet high. Counsel Lounsbury believed when that
was contemplated it was so the building could go up to 40 feet. He said it would
be contrary to the zoning requirements unless there was some good reason why
aesthetically the City would not want it. Counsel Lounsbury stated they raised it
for a reason, and said using the specific site plan process to undermine the
zoning would not be allowed.

Mr. Jones said he asked about Careflight earlier, and questioned if it was
premature to approve the application tonight without staff looking into it first.

23



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

Mr. Carville felt they could approve the case tonight, and the concerns would be
addressed before a zoning permit would be issued.

Mr. Self stated he was one that goes back to 1997 with the site, and explained
once of the reasons the mound was build was because the line of sight from
people’s backyards should not have been able to see anything of the Cub Foods
store that was proposed. He said his main heartburn with this whole thing is that
doesn’t apply anymore. Mr. Self said he was not sure how to mitigate it, but
thought they could require the developer to plant those trees as one of the very
first things they do. He stated another concern was light pollution, and
suggested adding a condition that would prohibit lights mounted on the east
side of the building. Mr. Self said they do want a lit parking lot, but there was no
reason to light up the building. Mr. Carville stated they may have entrances on
that side that they would want to light up, but thought maybe making it specific
that no lights could be mounted at the top of the building.

Mr. Self referred to the 200,000 square foot maximum, and questioned if that
was footprint or number of floors. He said it was the total square footage of the
building. Mr. Self asked with the proposed building and the existing medical
building, if they were still under the 200,000 square feet. Mr. Carville said yes.
Mr. Self questioned if they planned on having a restaurant. Mr. George stated
they would have food available for the guests staying only. Mr. Self referred to
the C600 Grading Plan, and questioned if there would be a lower mound
installed along Kemp Road. Mr. Carville said yes. Mr. Self questioned if there was
landscaping proposed along that area. Mr. Carville stated they were proposing
evergreens in that area.

Mr. Meyer asked if there was anything that would prevent the Commissioners
from adding or limiting the hours of construction. Counsel Lounsbury thought
that could be added.

Mr. Self thought they should add conditions regarding the construction hours,
the timing of planting trees, the decorative lighting on the east side of the
building, and the dumpster location.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to add Condition #23 to read hours of construction for any
grading or exterior work associated with this development shall be limited to
Monday through Saturday from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. Motion was seconded by Mr.
Fountain. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to modify Condition #7 so the last sentence shall read “The
final design of the enclosure shall be located on the western side and shall be
reviewed and approved by the Planning and Development Department prior to
the issuance of any zoning permits.” Motion was seconded by Mr. Fountain.
Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

24



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

Mr. Meyer asked when the berm would be extended. Ben Flamer, HiFive
Development, said when they did site work they would build the mound early in
construction then the trees would be planted. Mr. Self explained the point was to
get the trees growing as the building was constructed vertically.

Mr. Jones MOVED to modify Condition #19 so the last sentence shall read, “The
applicant shall be responsible for their portion of the mound and shall install the
required evergreens at the initiation of building construction.” Motion was
seconded by Ms. Palumbo. Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to add Condition #24 to read no decorative lighting shall be
installed on the east side of the building. Motion was seconded by Mr. Fountain.
Motion PASSED by majority voice vote.

Mr. Meyer MOVED to approve PUD 97-1 MOD 1/26 with 24 conditions as
modified:

1. All conditions and Court Orders contained within PUD 97-1 and all
subsequent modifications to PUD 97-1 are incorporated herein by
reference to the extent they are not specifically amended or altered by
any plans and conditions with this Major Modification.

2. The approved site plan, architectural elevations, and landscape plan for
the this development shall be the plans stamped “Received December 22,
2025”, except as modified herein.

3. A detailed landscape plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning
and Development Department prior to the execution of the required PUD
Agreement and the release of any zoning permit for this project.

4. Perpetual maintenance of landscaping shall be provided and any dead or
diseased materials shall be removed and replaced with similar types,
species and sizes as originally planted, within three months, weather
permitting.

5. Any portion of the site disturbed by grading, and on which no
construction occurs within three months after completion of the site
grading, shall be planted with appropriate ground cover free of noxious
weeds and construction debris and shall be properly maintained.

6. A PUD Agreement must be signed by the owner and a bond or letter of
credit for the required site landscaping must be submitted prior to the
release of a zoning permit for any portion of the project for the purpose,
but not for the sole purpose, of insuring the installation of landscaping.
Said bond or letter of credit must meet the requirements of the City’s
landscaping and screening regulations.

25



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

All trash collection containers shall be screened from view and enclosed
within a permanent dumpster enclosure or stored completely within the
building. Any future dumpster enclosure shall be constructed of materials
consistent with the principal building. The final design of the enclosure
shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning and Development
Department prior to the issuance of any zoning permits. The final design
of the enclosure shall be located on the western side and shall be
reviewed and approved by the Planning and Development Department
prior to the issuance of any zoning permits.

A maximum of one ground sign shall be permitted that can be up to 6 feet
tall with 40 square feet per sign face. The design of the ground sign shall
include a masonry base and sides that shall be constructed of similar
material to those on the proposed building.

Wall signage shall be limited to 350 square feet per elevation. Sign height
shall be no taller than 7 feet. No signage shall be permitted on the east
elevation.

Wall signs shall be individually mounted channel letters. The use of
raceways or painting of letters on the wall shall be prohibited.

Prior to the issuance of a zoning permit, final cut sheet details and
photometric plans for lighting of the site shall be reviewed and approved
by the Planning Department. No pole mounted fixtures shall be located in
the paved area of the parking field. All light fixtures and related
illumination of the site must meet the conditions outlined in the Zoning
Code. Lights in the parking lot shall be reduced to no greater than 25
permit illumination level within one hour of closing.

The building exterior shall not be painted or altered in any way that varies
from the approved elevations unless otherwise approved by the Planning
and Development Department or, if required, by the City Council and/or
Planning Commission.

No portion of the building may be occupied for the first time or
reoccupied later until and unless an application of a Certificate of Use
Compliance has been submitted to the City by the property owner or by
the prospective occupant. No such occupancy may occur until the
application of Certificate of Use Compliance has been approved and
issued by the City.

All concerns of the City Engineer, Fire Department, Sanitary Engineer and
the Planning and Development Department shall be addressed prior to the
issuance of a permit for the project.

26



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

All building mechanical equipment is to be screened from all directions
with architectural features (roof forms or parapet walls). Metal screening
will not be accepted. Pad mounted equipment must be screened with
landscaping and/or masonry walls and shall not be visible to the public.

Debris and trash shall be routinely collected by the owner from the
parking lot and grounds of all areas of the project. The City reserves the
right to require more frequent collection as necessary.

Downspouts shall be internally mounted and shall not be visible on the
exterior of the building.

Temporary signs shall not be permitted within this development with the
exception of a construction sign that will be allowed during construction
of the project.

A final landscape plan including 8 foot tall evergreens on the top of the
mound shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Department prior
to the execution of the required PUD Agreement and the release of a
zoning permit for the building. The landscape plan for the mound shall be
reviewed and approved by the Planning Department prior to the release
of a zoning permit. The applicant shall be responsible for their portion of
the mound and shall install the required evergreens at the initiation of
building construction.

20. Impact fees shall be paid prior to the release of the Commercial/Industrial

21.

Zoning Permit.

Within the confines of the proposed property, the mound shall be
adequately maintained, free of noxious weeds and tall grass, in perpetuity.

22. An additional sidewalk along the western boundary of the property,

adjacent to the private drive, may be required at the discretion of the
Planning Director.

23. Hours of construction for any grading or exterior work associated with

this development shall be limited to Monday through Saturday from 7 a.m.
to 7 p.m.

24. No decorative lighting shall be installed on the east side of the building.

Motion was seconded by Ms. Palumbo. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 5-0.

Mr. Burkett stated Colin Carville, City Planner, accepted a new position as a
Planning Director for a suburb city of Dayton so tonight was his last meeting. He

27



BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 1/7/26

thanked him for this service for the last two years, and wished him the best in his
future endeavors.

ADJOURNMENT

Mr. Meyer MOVED adjournment at 9:46 p.m., seconded by Mr. Jones. Motion
PASSED by majority voice vote.

Melissa Gillaugh
Deputy Clerk

28












6. Prior to the installation of the walk-in freezer, a separate zoning permit
shall be required.

Page 3 of 4
























®

Lo e

T

W.Prjectu QUZ4U00-S5P240DSENCADISHT S\PH 112400562, C200_OVERALL PHASE 1 SITE PLAH tig Lacs savad $222024 6.17 P14 by hibeAvoy, ploliad 11872625 344 P4

4105 EXE(
[H %

PT. LOT
APPLE VALLEY BUSNESS PARK
SECTION THREE

SCALE: 1IN = 100 FT

LEGEND

—

PROPERTY LINE
RIGHT OF WAY LINE

2

HEAVY DUTY PAVEMENT

LIGHT DUTY PAVEMENT

HEAYY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

GENERAL NOTES:

ALL DIMENSIONS SHDWN ARE PERPENDICULAR TO ITEMS BEING
DINENSIONED.

THE SITE ACCESS iS PARALLEL AND PERPENDICULAR 10 THE RIGHT
OF WAY. THE PARKING LOT IS PARALLEL ARO PERPENDICULAR TO A
PORTION OF THE NORTHERM PROPERTY UNE

CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPLACING ANY ONSITE AND
OFFSITE ITEMS DAMAGED DURING CONSTRUCTION IN THE SAME OR
BETTER CONDITION THAN THEY WERE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

GRANGE HaL | Rp

=

SITE DATA

PARCEL ID RUMBER: _ BA2000200060002800 & B42000200060002700
PROPERTY ADDRESS: RESEARCH BLVD AND GRANGE HALL RD
PROPERTY OWNER: EXECUTIVE PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
ZONING: LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (L-1),
ADJACENT ZOKNING: ~ RESEARCH PARK (RPY), RESEARCH PARK {ORP),

UGHT INDUSTRIAL (L~1)
PROPOSED USE: RESEARCH & DEVELOPNENT FACHITY
TOTAL PHASE 1 SITE AREA: 11.86 AC (516,545.8 SF)
PHASE 1 BULDING AREA: A 128,650 &F
PHASE 1 LOT COVERAGE (BUILDING ONLY): N o
NAX BULDING HEIGHT: 4

PARKING REQUIRED:

20,000 SF OFFICE = $:300SF OFFICE PLUS 2 PER 3 E)PLOYEES
108,650 SF R&D = 100 EMPLOYEES

68 (2DK SF OFFICE) + 68 (100 EMPLOYEES) = 136

136 STALLS REQUIRED.

PHASE { PARKING PROVIDED: 146
TOTAL PHASE 1 ADA PARKING PROVIDED; &
TOTAL WALL SIGH AREA: 280 SF

L
ity

A

PROPDSED
DETENTION pagy

\— APPROXIMATE

FOUNTAN

REREERR T

L

E&?ﬁ&l@@@ﬁi& i

L]
AT

L] I,

EWER RELOCATION

LOWERED FFE

DESCRIPTION

BiD AHD COHSTRUGTION SET
DITION & STORM

AD!

e

el el L S
BI0 AND CONSTRUCTION SET - REVISED.

REVISION 1/ PERMIT SET

/EST SIDE BUILDING.

Wi

BY
MF
AAE
AAE
AR
N

DATE

NO.

0582024
2400563
Jeeisas
AAF

1160 DUBLIN ROAD
SUITE 100
COLUMBUS, OH 43215
FAX: 888.488.7340

TEL: 614.441.4222

PROJECT DATE:
PROJECT NO:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SPIRIT.

TECHNICAL SKILL,

www.MannikSmithGroup.com

PO BOX 3836,

PREPARED FOR.
WOODARD
DEVELOPMENT
DAYTON, CH 45401

i

HALL RD,

, OH 45430

SITE IMPROVEMENT PLAN FOR
BEAVERCREEK,

& DEVELOPMENT FACILITY
RESEARCH BLVD AND GRANGE

BEAVERCREEK RESEARCH

OVERALL PHASE 1
SITE PLAN

()
R
o
=}




W 1Prmyoc1a2024400- 59024 00SCRCADISHTSWH 12400563_C201_PH1 SITE PLAN DETALS. vy Lo savod 12232024 346 PMby MikAvay, ptied 182025 341 P11

! I 1) \
1 I 7 1 I I
! i 1 / J B =
] i | ] - H o
1 ! ! 1 S
i | ] ] d
! | \ 5
] ,' 1 [ z g
1 4 \ \ SHE:
NN Vo e
. al £ |5
HER
Vo ol e b
k \ I | £ EEs,
\ \ ‘I { CE OF Prt paveyey 0 15w o | 2 ot
Vol : ===
i BIE A
! 1 1 E EHEEEE
I i \ Y SCALE: 11N = 30 FT
| ; {re [ o
Bl Lo LEGEND B3t =|5 2[
- lp E: %‘ El é — 3 PROPERTY UINE
B ! ! [ lxizizne
b{ ;a_,l‘ Bl Wy E RIGHT OF WAY LNE §§§§§§
B\ E\ é‘ ! | HEAVY DUTY PAVEMENT NEnis
! 1 sl
2} ) R ) [ UCHT DUTY PAVEMENT <
i | 1 \ 8 PR
g ’, II II E 5 HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT . §E3%
= i { E 9 Eqel28
J/ / \ Dol 8 CONCRETE SIDEWALX 8.3 §_ 218
— i 1 ] @ & z2038
= i v I = E 2ig|e ., .
/ i N g Saz., & g n
~ H - 2 SH¥|ECEq
/ \ - . t ghe|gE 28
’\ AN L SITE VISION TRIANGLE 8 ' g 3
S o~ / EEES
\ \ [ y, -
N \ de
RSN ~ N Vs @ PROPOSED PARKING COUNT RE
! ] \ﬂ ’ & ADA PARKING SYMBOL #
\ =
AN o~ L\ - SIoH g
ST =
N \ ‘é PROPOSED DIRECTIONAL ARROKS AND
\ s - PARKING STALL STRIPING PER DETALL o e
RN \ ! 3 7 Lo 5
\ \ s = PROPOSED WHEEL STOP PER DETALL S 4
5\ \ i 3 i e PROPOSED STOP BAR PAVEMENT MARKING C’-B é
[ I / E El
b i L3 . e CEGO §
\ 1 U —
) ) Y T, GEMERAL HOTES: U) H
/ /’ ” BIKE RACK, GAME TIE IHC. 1. ALL DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE PERPENDICULAR TO ITENS BEING 2 3
/ ! | MOOEL. 7700, BLACS y, DINENSIONED.
I/ ' 2 CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPLACING ANY ONSITE AND
4 : OFFSITE ITEMS DANAGED DURING CONSTRUCTION IN THE SAME 08
A 4 ,' BETTER CONDITION THAN THEY WERE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.
/ s
/ ’ ,’
/ ,I / J CODED NOTES: E
/ ! ! (7 CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL COMCRETE SIDEWALK PER DETAIL O | g s
{ L / S SHEET €002, g < E g%
{ o 5
! I / s (2) CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT FOR |2 09 &z
/! ' { S ENTRANCE DRIVE AND TRUCK DOCK PER DETAIL O SHEET G30l. | om g
&= = <
\ { ! 7,7 (3) ADA ACCESSIBLE PARKING. =@ °
\ \ M \ =)
/ l\ @ CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL (2) BOLLARD-MOUNTED ADA SIGNS PER
\\ ~ DETALL ON SHEET €002
AN ~ / (5) ADA ACCESSBLE STRPIG. -
h -
Voo \ Y ’ / ¥ B PER DETAL ON SHEET c0o2 t g
VN Yol PROPOSED WET — ] A @s s 7 ’ © 12 st o 7 o &) =55
\ i / . ; DOCK DOOR STEPS TO BE ADDED PER DETALS IN ARCHITECTURAL | o =3
e \ + /r\ DETENTION BASH g / // I S0, & / o @ A e pae e 5 O Ig
- _ ’ AR WA :
- = A ] E \ /// / / /’/ //’ o . & Yy /,;/ DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE PER ARCHITECTURAL PLANS. Z qu |_<1_ %§
g - / 7
,/ 7 ; \ % / - A ot AR s (@) DRVECI DOOR RAUP TO BE ADDED PER DETALS I ARCHIECTURAL | &= 7 = 25
- ﬁ APPROXMATE Ve - / A ’ . 7,7 AND STRUCTURAL PLANS =4 =Z 6o
\/ Vi i \ FOUNTAN / < qurmernt v togAran /( Z i s, 4 1] X [T} QEf,
! 7 LOCATION / LS ARy 4 RETAINING WALL TO BE ADDED PER DETALS N ARCHITECTURAL g W= 3w
i P // e / AND STRUCTURAL PLANS g [T = Dg
s =
) y /// /,/é A (i) STOP SIGN PER DETAL ON SHEET €002 T % O g4
e I = |
. 7 . ’ () (2) BOLLARDS NEAR EXD OF STARS PER DETAL W ARcHTECTRAL | o 02 1 5 g
[P e ’ PLANS = L 4
s 7, 4 / & = > 5
e S (3 'WIEGRAL WAL ANO CURB. SEE GRADING PLANS FOR LWITS OF =< Lé-' 7]
- o , FLUSH INTEGRAL WALK AND CURB ON SHEET C30. i o
- s ’ m oI
- oo S
rd
P S SITE DATA
“ i’ i PARCEL 1D NUMBER: _ B47000200060002600 & B47000200060002700
s / PROPERTY ADDRESS: RESEARCH BLYD AND GRANGE HALL RD 9
PROPERTY OWNER: DECUTIVE PROPERTY NVESTHENTS =
e TONING: LIGHT WWDUSTRIAL (L-1) S
-~ ADJACENT ZONING:  RESEARCH PARK (RP1), RESEARCH PARK (ORP), ~ Ll
L LIGHT IDUSTRIAL (L~1) w N
e PROPOSED USE: RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT FAGLITY 0 —
- TOTAL PHASE 1 DISTURBED AREA: +/-170 AC :<1(: 5
PHASE 1 BUILDING AREA: {65,150 &F o A
P PHASE 1 LOT COVERAGE (BULDING ONLY): {65 A w
WAX BUILDING HEIGHT: =
w




7 MAEAVDY, pltind

W Projects Q0244008992400 ENCADGHTSIPH 112400567 C202_ OVERALL CONCEPT PLAN dwgLact e

Sl I \\f\{\
\%(\\\/ // // \\\\' /i/\\\:
I~
\\\ / /\\].‘// Lol

SCALE: § IN = 100 FT

\ /
\\\\\\\ / ,—\\\\\“/: L/‘ / ! —L‘E_GEE@ e PROPERTY LINE

RIGHT OF WAY LIRE
HEAVY DUTY PAVEMENT

EXS Ry

BUAn LIGHT DUTY PAVEMENT

HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

=
//
//
/
//
4
|
L

SIDEWALK CONCRETE PAVEMENT

SITE DATA
L PARCEL ID NUMBER: B42000200060002800 & B42000200060002700
PROPERTY ADDRESS: RESEARCH BLVD AND GRANCE HALL RO|
PROPERTY OWNER: EXECUTIVE PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
20NING: LIGHT INDUSTRIAL {L~1)

ADJIACENT ZONING:  RESEARCH PARK (RP1), RESEARCH PARK (ORP),
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL {L~1)

FROPOSED USE: RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT FACLITY,
OVERALL SITE AREA: 3375 AC|
OVERALL BUILDING AREA: 273,650 SF

OVERALL LOT COVERAGE (BUILDING ONLY): é 16.6%

MAX BURDING HEIGHT:

OVERALL PARKING REQUIRED:

41,000 SF OFFICE = 1:3005F OFFICE PLUS 2 PER 3 EUPLOYEES
232,650 SF R&D = 210 EMPLOYEES

137 (41K SF OFFICE) + 140 (210 EMPLOYEES) = 277

OVERALL PARKING PRDVIDED: 284
OVERALL ADA PARKING PROVIDED; (3

PROPOSED WET Y —_—
DETENTION BASIN

CHARKEL EASCULNT
\OL2H, £G.258

—
§J

DESCRIPTION

810 AND COHSTRUCTION SET.

RS i L CTUSEWER RELOCATION |

WEST SIDE BULDING ADDITION & STORM SEWER RELOCATION

BID AHD CONSTRUCTION SET - REVISED

REVISION 17PERMT SET.

8Y

MF
AAF
AAF
MU
MR

DATE
oonERn
Rz
127272024
oig025

NO.

06/06/2024
2400563
JCCISAS

SUITE 100
COLUMBUS, OH 43215
TEL: B14.441.4222
FAX: 888.488,7340

1180 DUBLIN ROAD

PROJECT DATE:
PROJECTNO:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SPIRIT.

TECHNICAL SKILL,

www.MannikSmithGroup.com

PREPARED FOR:
WOODARD
DEVELOPMENT
PO BOX 3836,
ORYTON, OH 45401

SITE IMPROVEMENT PLAN FOR
E HALL RD,
BEAVERCREEK, OH 45430

RESEARCH BLVD AND GRANG

BEAVERCREEK RESEARCH
& DEVELOPMENT FACILITY

OVERALL
CONCEPT PLAN

(@]
N
o
N










o« Development and refinement of future land use concepts based on
public and stakeholder input

The project timeline and engagement history are documented on

PlanBeavercreek.com, which provides transparency into the planning process
and public input received.

Highlights of the Plan

Focus on reinvestment and redevelopment in established commercial
corridors and activity centers, rather than outward expansion

Protection of existing residential neighborhoods through clear land use
transitions, buffering, and compatibility guidance

Encouragement of mixed-use and higher-intensity development in
appropriate locations to support economic development and fiscal
sustainability

Recognition of changing housing needs, including demand for smaller units,
aging-in-place options, and a wider range of housing types

Alignment of land use with infrastructure and services, including
transportation, utilities, and public facilities

Clear future land use guidance intended to reduce uncertainty for residents,
developers, and decision-makers

Policy framework to support future Zoning Code updates, ensuring that
regulations are aligned with adopted land use goals

Recommendation

Based on the work completed and pubic and council input received,
staff finds that Plan Beavercreek provides a clear and practical framework for
guiding future land use decisions and for informing future regulatory updates.
Staff recommends the Planning Commission recommend approval of the Plan
Beavercreek Land Use Plan to City Council.



RESOLUTION
CITY OF BEAVERCREEK
PLANNING COMMISSION
February 4, 2026
RE: PC 26-1 Land Use
Plan Update

WHEREAS, the City of Beavercreek Planning Commission has
determined it necessary to amend the Land Use Plan in accordance with
§158.171(D)(1) of the City of Beavercreek Zoning Code and in accordance with
Ordinance No. 20-15; and

WHEREAS, public hearing was held on February 4, 2026 by the
Beavercreek Planning Commission at which time all people who wished to
testify gave their comments at the public hearing.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission
recommends to the Beavercreek City Council:

SECTION |

The City of Beavercreek Planning Commission recommends to City
Council adoption of the amendment to the Land Use Plan as depicted in the
attached document dated “January 30, 2026.”

SECTION II

1. The approved Land Use Plan shall be the attached document dated
“January 30, 2026.”

SECTION II

These plans and all papers relating to the approved plan shall be
submitted with this resolution to City Council.

The Clerk is directed to transmit the case to City Council for further
determination as required by law.

ADOPTED: January 30, 2026
VOTING FOR ADOPTION:

VOTING AGAINST ADOPTION:

ABSENT:



Clerk Chairman




















































































































































































































































































































